
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Policy Overview 
Committee

Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor S H Brown Councillor R Lees
Councillor P F Coleman Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor R M Currans Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor B Garden Councillor D Page
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor R J Wells
Councillor M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 20 September 2016

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
12 September 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
AGENDA

Tuesday 20 September 2016

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held 
on 14 June 2016 (Pages 1 - 18)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (if any) 

6. Regulation 9 Notice (Pages 19 - 22)
To consider any issues arising from the Regulation 9 Notice for the 
period 15 August 2016 to 31 December 2016. 

7. Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee 
Meeting held on 14 June 2016 (Pages 23 - 32)

SD (IS)

To note the list of action points arising from the Policy Overview 
Committee meeting held on 14 June 2016. 

8. Dementia Friendly Communities (Pages 33 - 34) SD (IS)
To receive an update on the initiatives and projects being progressed 
by Kent County Council’s Dementia Friendly Communities team. 

9. Fairfield Management Contract (Pages 35 - 48) SD (IS)
To submit to the Committee, Places For People Management Ltd’s 
Quarterly Report on the management of the Fairfield Pool since its 
opening in February 2016. 

10. Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators (Pages 49 - 62) SD (IS)
This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan performance 
indicators for quarter 1 of 2016 – 17. 

11. Policy Overview Committee Work Plan (Pages 63 - 66) SD (IS)
This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s work plan. 





1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 14 
June 2016 at 7.00 pm

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor S H Brown
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor R Lees
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D Page (Shadow Chairman)
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor B Garden
Councillor Dr B K Kaini
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Julie Hunt – Director for Performance Delivery, 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
Clinical Commissioning Group

Rakesh Patel – Board member of the Kent 
Community Pharmacy Partnership

Cheryl Clennett – Pharmacist Advisor to Kent Public 
Health

Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sarah Martin – Strategic Director (Internal Services)
Peter Dosad – Head of Housing
Teresa Ryszkowska – Head of Regeneration
Adrian Gowan – Policy and Corporate Support 

Manager
Marie Gerald – Housing Options and Private Sector 

Manager
Mark Aplin – Planning Policy Manager

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Garden, B K Kaini, M 
B Kelly and R J Wells.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

2

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

3. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW 
MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH 2016 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 8 
March 2016 be confirmed.

4. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

5. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE AND 
PROTOCOL 

This report advised Members of the Terms of Reference for the Policy 
Overview Committee, which were agreed at the Annual Meeting of the 
Council on 11 May 2016. The report also presented the Policy Overview 
Committee’s Protocol, which describes the procedures that must be followed 
for the Committee to operate effectively.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Terms of Reference for the Policy Overview Committee, 
attached at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

2. That the Protocol for the Policy Overview Committee, attached at 
Appendix B to the report, be noted.

6. CHANGE IN ORDER OF AGENDA 

As there were guest speakers present for agenda item 9, Dartford Gravesham 
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, and agenda item 10, Pharmacy 
Services, the Chairman proposed that the referred item be taken after item 
11, Ebbsfleet Garden City Update.

RESOLVED:

That the item entitled ‘Referral from Scrutiny Committee Meeting held on 19 
April 2016: Affordable Housing Completions - Cabinet Report of 3 March 
2016’ be taken after item 11.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

3

7. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 16 May 2016 to 30 
September 2016, be noted.

8. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH 2016 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 8 March 2016.

RESOLVED:

That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held on 8 
March 2016 be noted.

9. DARTFORD, GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING 
GROUP 

The Chairman welcomed Julie Hunt, Director for Performance Delivery for 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group (DGS 
CCG) to the meeting, who was present to provide an update on progress 
being made within DSG CCG.

The Director for Performance Delivery began by providing an update on the 
successful Healthy New Garden City bid that they had made, which was 
awarded in March 2016, and said that Ebbsfleet had been one of ten housing 
developments selected to shape the health of communities, and to rethink 
how health and care services can be delivered. She said that although the 
award will not provide additional funding in itself, it would allow access to 
additional funding opportunities and enhanced levels of support.

The Director for Performance Delivery then outlined the key priorities of the 
project and said that there would be appropriate planning around protected 
green spaces, clear cut housing standards, and support for active travel with 
the provision of cycle paths and walkways. She also noted how community 
safety would be taken into consideration by developing away from major 
roads and said that facilities that would enable elderly people to lead 
independent lives in a multi-generational neighbourhood would also be 
included, with innovative technology solutions being provided to support 
independence and self-management of long term conditions.

The Director for Performance Delivery then referred to associated growth 
issues and noted how the current DSG CCG population of 258,000 was 
predicted to increase by 57,000 or more in the next 10 to 15 years, at least 
27,000 of which would be as a result of the Ebbsfleet Garden City 
development. She noted the impact this increase would have on health 
service provision and said that many existing primary care facilities were not 
fit for purpose and/or didn’t have capacity to manage the required growth. She 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

4

said that a new model of care was required due to workforce and premises 
issues and that some services currently provided from hospitals should be 
moved to other locations with a renewed focus on prevention. She then noted 
how an Estates Strategy would have to be developed and reviewed based on 
the emerging clinical model.

The Director for Performance Delivery then described the new clinical model 
and said that it aimed to deliver improved access to primary and community 
support and to prevent, where appropriate, acute admissions and A&E 
attendances. She said that Integrated Primary Care Teams would be based 
around GP practices and would provide resources to address those who can 
be treated at home. She had then referred to a pilot which was being carried 
out which had demonstrated how it had been possible to avoid repeated visits 
to hospital by having a team with the required skills on hand to visit a patient 
at home. She then described the services that would be delivered by Hubs 
who would be able to address primary care illnesses and minor injuries of an 
urgent or non-planned nature. Finally she referred to Specialist Services, e.g. 
for acute conditions, which were those that would require a visit to a hospital.

The Director for Performance Delivery then moved on to the challenges being 
faced and referred to the level of current demand and the very limited capacity 
across the whole system for additional growth within the existing 
infrastructure. She noted the pressures that had been experienced during the 
winter months with queueing ambulances and people finding it difficult to 
access their GPs. She then referred to the Estates Strategy review and noted 
the impact that changes to the services that are provided by neighbouring 
hospitals can have, and the fact that patients from farther away can choose to 
use Darent Valley Hospital. She said that Darent Valley Hospital had 
occasions when it was running at above 100% occupancy and that its 
capacity needed to be increased.

The Director for Performance Delivery then discussed national plans and 
highlighted NHS England’s 5 Year Forward View (FYFV) and the requirement 
for local health and social care systems to develop a 5 year Sustainability and 
Transformation Plan (STP) and a year on year Operational Plan to describe 
how the FYFV is to be delivered based on population needs.

The Director for Performance Delivery then discussed governance across 
Kent and Medway. She noted how they had been on a “journey” with 
organisations and worked at reaching a consensus around the approach and 
achieving good buy-in from constituent organisations. She explained the need 
to retain local planning whilst still recognising the need to work together 
across the Kent and Medway footprint. She referred to the STP steering group 
and listed the various bodies that have a seat at the table. She then noted 
how work had now been initiated to review the proposed structure and ensure 
ownership.

The Director for Performance Delivery then advised that the CCG’s main 
focus areas were self-care and prevention with identified health and finance 
benefits, strengthened primary care and integrated out of hospital care 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

5

(including mental health and social care), acute hospital strategy (including 
mental health), and cost reduction measures (including “Carter” efficiencies).

The Director for Performance Delivery then outlined the next steps to be taken 
and referred to modelling analysis that is being carried out to better 
understand the financial and capacity gap, and enable them to plan 
effectively. She said that they would be submitting a statement of work in 
progress at the end of June for review, which would be followed by a meeting 
in July with NHS England and NHS Improvement. She then said that work 
would gather pace over the summer to develop a final plan for submission by 
the end of 2016 with the overall pressure being to continue to save money 
whilst delivering improved services.

The Chairman thanked the Director for Performance Delivery for her 
presentation and referred to the funding related letter that the Committee had 
sent to the Secretary of State for Health and NHS England following the 
Director for Performance Delivery’s last visit. He said that they were still 
awaiting a response from NHS England and with the Committee’s approval 
asked that they be chased for a response.

The Chairman then referred to the pilot that had been held and asked whether 
there were any plans for it to be rolled out further. The Director for 
Performance Delivery explained how funding for the pilot had been shared 
with Kent County Council (KCC) but advised that, despite the workload 
benefits that the scheme would offer for KCC, they had decided to withdrawn 
their funding support. She then confirmed that the CCG were still committed 
to rolling the scheme out further and were meeting with Age UK to see if they 
were able to contribute towards the funding required to do this.

The Chairman then asked about the status of the contract with Virgin Care to 
run adult community care services and their involvement with the Livingstone 
Community Hospital. The Director for Performance Delivery advised that the 
CCG had successfully applied for the suspension that had been imposed 
following the legal challenge by Kent Community Health NHS Foundation 
Trust to be lifted, and that the contract had now been awarded. She said that 
they were now starting to work with Virgin Care to implement the contract. 
She also referred to the staffing issues being experienced at the Livingstone 
Community Hospital and said that agency staff were being used where 
necessary. She said that they would be working with Virgin Care to address 
the problem and hoped that they would offer attractive opportunities to 
encourage permanent staff to apply.

Members referred to the need to grow capacity and, having noted that there 
was already a shortage of GPs in the area, asked whether there would be a 
sufficient number to cover the increased capacity. The Director for 
Performance Delivery replied that measures were being taken to attract new 
GPs into the area and also noted how some would be part-time and would not 
be required to become a ‘partner’ in a surgery. She also referred to an 
associated concern relating to ongoing retirements and described how 
nursing skills were also being enhanced to address resource shortages. She 
then advised that the capacity increase would be accomplished by 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

6

refurbishing existing practices rather than opening new ones. Members then 
asked whether figures for current surgery staffing levels could be made 
available. The Director for Performance Delivery confirmed that she could 
supply the information and again noted the length of time it takes to train a GP 
and the fact that moving other resources into GP practices can result in 
shortages elsewhere.

In response to a question relating to the required expansion of Darent Valley 
Hospital, the Director for Performance Delivery referred to the recent 
refurbishment of the A&E area and advised that they were also looking to 
expand the endoscopy unit to provide additional beds. She also noted how 
internally available space was being reconfigured to increase the capacity for 
clinical care at both Darent Valley and Queen Mary’s hospitals and that 
measures were being introduced to improve patient flow through the 
hospitals. She then advised that it was anticipated that 45 additional beds 
would be required at the hospital to meet future demand and described how 
they were working with Local Authorities and Kent County Council to argue for 
the capital funding that would be required to deliver this predicted 
requirement.

In response to a question relating to car parking at Darent Valley hospital, the 
Director for Performance Delivery said that she would find out how things are 
progressing and respond to Members.

Members then referred to the new clinical model and asked where the Hubs 
were likely to be located. The Director for Performance Delivery replied that 
she anticipated that there would be 3 Hubs for the Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley area but could not confirm where they might be located or whether 
they would be located in new or existing facilities. She said that the 
requirements needed further review and scoping before an associated 
decision could be made.

The Chairman thanked the Director for Performance Delivery for taking the 
time to attend and update Members and invited her to return in March 2017 to 
provide a further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Julie Hunt be thanked for attending the meeting and responding to 
Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Julie Hunt be noted.

3. That a further letter be written to NHS England asking them to respond 
to the health funding issues that had been raised in the previous letter 
that had been sent following the Director for Performance Delivery’s 
previous visit.

4. That the CCG be invited back to provide a further update to the 
Committee at their March 2017 meeting.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

7

10. PHARMACY SERVICES 

The Chairman welcomed Rakesh Patel and Cheryl Clennett to the meeting, 
who were present to provide Members with a briefing on the services that are 
provided by pharmacies.

Mr Patel and Ms Clennett began by outlining their current roles and describing 
how pharmacies can be large corporate national companies, groups of 
independent multiples, or small independent businesses.

Ms Clennett then referred to the presentation given by the Director for 
Performance Delivery for Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (DGS CCG) and noted how there had been no mention 
of the benefits that can be provided by pharmacists and the fact that they can 
provide services and advice that can prevent the need for a GP or hospital 
visit. She then referred Members to the handout that had been included as an 
Appendix to the report in the agenda which listed all the services that are 
currently provided by pharmacists and noted how they went far beyond the 
dispensing of medicines. She noted how lifestyle advice can be given and 
drew Members’ attention to the advanced services that are also provided 
which includes Medicines Use Reviews (MURs), Appliance Use Reviews 
(AURs) and a New Medicines Service (NMS) whereby customers who are in 
receipt of a new medication are advised of its aims and contacted later to see 
if any problems are being experienced. She also noted how the NMS helped 
to address the 50% of people who are inclined to stop taking their medication 
in the first week.

Ms Clennett also referred to the flu vaccination service that is provided by 
pharmacies and noted how patients can receive one at their convenience 
rather than having to wait for a doctor’s surgery appointment. She also noted 
how this service fully met the NHS criteria for its delivery. She then referred to 
the range of health checks available and said that these could also be carried 
out by pharmacists if commissioned by the local CCG.

Mr Patel then explained the benefits of a yearly MUR which helps patients to 
understand the reasons for taking medicine and possible side effects. He said 
that this understanding meant that fewer would be inclined to stop taking their 
medicine, which would reduce the amount of wastage caused by prescribed 
medication not being used. He then noted how MURs cannot be carried out at 
home which meant that the 30% who have their medicines delivered would 
have to visit their pharmacy in order to make use of this service. He said that 
pharmacies are able to carry out 400 MURs a year and that they are free.

Ms Clennett then noted those services that are commissioned and funded by 
Public Health and also those that are freely provided by pharmacies who fund 
these services from their profits.

Ms Clennett then referred to a predicted crisis in community pharmacy due to 
Government plans to cut the funding that is currently provide to pharmacies, 
which would reduce their profits by 6% and remove the funding which enables 
them to stay open later. She said that the Department of Health were also 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

8

promoting an online ‘click and collect’ service which would remove the 
benefits of a face to face consultation. She then noted how these changes 
could lead to the closure of up to 3000 pharmacies (i.e. 1 in 4) across the 
country with those located in rural areas, or small pharmacies in urban areas, 
being most at risk. She also noted how those pharmacies that are able to 
remain open may have to reduce the number of free services that they 
currently provide, which would mean that services such as the ordering and 
collection of prescriptions for patients, the delivery of medicines, and the 
provision of Medication Administration Record (MAR) charts and Monitored 
Dosage Systems (MDS) could be lost. She therefore asked that Members 
support their local pharmacies and write to their MP expressing concern at the 
changes being made. Mr Patel echoed Ms Clennett’s concerns and confirmed 
the impact that these changes would have on his ability to retain staff and 
deliver the services that he currently provides.

The Chairman thanked Mr Patel and Ms Clennett for their presentation and 
voiced his own concern at the impact that the Government’s changes might 
have on local pharmacies, especially those in the rural areas of Dartford. He 
therefore asked, with the support of other Members present, that a letter be 
written to the Secretary of State for Health on behalf of the Committee, and 
copied to the local MP, highlighting Members’ concern at the changes being 
made and potential impacts. Members also asked that Parish and Town 
Councils be made aware of the pressures being placed on pharmacies as a 
result of Government changes.

The Chairman then referred to the wastage caused by prescribed medicines 
not being used and asked whether they could be re-prescribed. Ms Clennett 
replied that 10% of the allocated drugs budget is lost through wastage and 
noted how some non-usage is justified if an adverse reaction to the drug is 
being experienced. She then advised that, in order to remain effective, drugs 
had to be stored within defined high and low temperatures, and that this could 
not be guaranteed for those that have been returned as unused by a patient. 
She also noted that an investigation into drug wastage had been carried out 
by the CCG and said that they should be contacted if Members would like 
more information in this area. The Chairman requested that the CCG be 
asked for the results of their review into drug wastage.

In response to a question relating to the number of Kent pharmacies that Mr 
Patel and Ms Clennett represented, Mr Patel advised that as a member of the 
Kent Community Pharmacy Partnership he represented a third of the 
pharmacies in Kent. He then said that the Kent Local Pharmaceutical 
Committee (LPC) represented all community pharmacy contractors in Kent 
and said that he would invite a representative from that body to accompany 
them when they next attend.

Members referred to the pharmacy funding changes that are planned for the 
next financial year and asked whether further cuts might occur in future years. 
Mr Patel replied that they had only heard about this year’s changes on the 
17th Dec 2015 and that he did not know if further changes were planned. He 
noted how it made it difficult for private businesses to forecast their budgetary 
commitments and said that he personally would have to review the free 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

9

services that he provides if further funding cuts are made. Members also 
noted the increased pressures that would be placed on GP surgeries if 
pharmacies were forced to close.

In response to a question relating to the need for a patient to return to their 
GP in order to obtain a signature before they are able to obtain a repeat 
prescription from the pharmacy, Mr Rakesh advised that if the patient is stable 
then ‘repeat dispensing’ can be requested for a specified length of time, which 
allows a pharmacy to issue repeat prescriptions without the patient needing to 
visit the doctor’s surgery each time.

A reference was made to the dispensing of cheaper drugs and the need to 
ensure that they are genuine. Ms Clennett assured Members that pharmacies 
had a legal and ethical obligation to dispense drugs as prescribed. She said 
that cheaper generic forms of branded drugs are used if available, and 
confirmed that they are produced to the same standard and deliver the same 
benefits as the branded versions.

The Chairman thanked Mr Patel and Ms Clennett for taking the time to attend 
the meeting in order to update Members and invited them to return in a year’s 
time, together with a representative from the Local Pharmacy Committee, to 
provide a further update.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Patel and Ms Clennett be thanked for attending the meeting 
and responding to Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mr Patel and Ms Clennett be noted.

3. That a letter be written to the Secretary of State for Health, and copied 
to the local MP, expressing the Committee’s concern at the proposed 
pharmacy related funding changes.

4. That Parish and Town Councils be made aware of the impact that 
pharmacy related funding changes might have on rural pharmacies and 
the services that they deliver.

5. That the results of the CCG’s investigations into drug wastage be 
distributed to all Committee Members.

6. That Mr Patel and Ms Clennett, together with a representative from the 
Local Pharmacy Committee, be invited to provide a further update to 
the Committee at their June 2017 meeting.

11. EBBSFLEET GARDEN CITY UPDATE 

This report updated Members on the Ebbsfleet Garden City development 
and the work of the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC).



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

10

In response to a question relating to Dartford’s involvement in the 
development of the area the Head of Regeneration replied that a 
Memorandum of Understanding was being agreed and that this would set out 
arrangements for Dartford Officers to be involved in planning applications 
coming forward and EDC projects. There were already arrangements in place 
for statutory consultation on any planning applications that had been 
submitted. She said that Dartford Members were represented on the Planning 
Committee that had been established to consider applications as well as on 
the EDC Board. She then explained Dartford’s involvement in the 
development of the Masterplan for the area and anticipated that it would be 
made available for consultation later in the year. She also noted how 
representatives from the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation would be 
providing an update for Members prior to the General Assembly of the Council 
meeting scheduled for 11 July 2016.

Members referred to the status of the London Paramount project and asked 
whether the proposed road access routes were being changed. The Head of 
Regeneration replied that their Masterplan was being reviewed, and that a 
review of access routes was being undertaken concurrently. She said that 
their revised plans were currently scheduled to be published for public 
consultation in the Autumn.

Members noted how the house building programme was being accelerated 
and asked whether the provision of the associated infrastructure was also 
being progressed at the same rate. The Head of Regeneration replied that 
£310 million funding had been approved by Government and that part of this 
was to be used to deliver a utilities service channel to support the new 
housing. She then explained how Section 106 agreements were being used to 
ensure that the required schools and other community facilities are being 
provided and said that delivery of these was linked to defined trigger points as 
each phase of development progresses. She noted how the first Primary 
school for the area, which would also include community facilities, was 
scheduled to be open in 2017.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

12. REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 19 APRIL 
2016: AFFORDABLE HOUSING COMPLETIONS - CABINET REPORT OF 3 
MARCH 2016 

This report advised Members of the concerns that had been raised by 
Scrutiny Committee Members relating to affordable housing.

During their debate Scrutiny Members had specifically referred to the current 
level of provision of social housing in the Borough (including new build) to 
meet resident need, in particular, the continued requirement for the social 
housing of the 900 residents currently on the Council’s Housing Register; and 
the impact that the Government’s Housing and Planning Act might have on 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

11

the future provision of social housing in the Borough, with particular regard to 
those achieved through Section 106 (s106) agreements.

The Head of Housing referred to the debate that had taken place at the 
Scrutiny Committee meeting and said that it had originally been raised 
because the performance indicator for the delivery of affordable housing had 
indicated that there may be a shortfall. He then noted how the Committee had 
referred to the Housing and Planning Act but said that he felt that there was 
not enough detail available as yet to allow a full assessment of the likely 
impact of this Act. He also noted the concern that had been expressed in 
relation to ‘Starter Homes’.

Members began by considering the specific concerns that were detailed in the 
report and echoed the feelings that had been expressed by the Scrutiny 
Committee. It was then suggested that a forum be established to further 
explore the impact that the Housing and Planning Act would have on the 
Council’s ability to provide affordable housing. The Head of Housing advised 
that the scope of the Act went beyond the provision of affordable housing and 
said that the Council’s planning strategy for the provision of affordable 
housing was included in the Local Plan. He then noted that the Council 
already had a cross-party Local Plan Members’ Working Group (LPMWG) 
which was best placed to perform a review.

The Head of Regeneration advised that amendments to planning policy on 
affordable housing are developed through the LPMWG and noted it to be a 
thorough process that has been prescribed by Government requiring detailed 
associated evidence. She said that in order to change the current affordable 
housing target a housing needs assessment would need to be carried out and 
considered against viability factors before making Policy amendments, which 
are normally undertaken as part of a Plan review. She then said that currently 
the Development Policies Local Plan was being finalised. Work on a full Plan 
Review, which was the appropriate mechanism for consideration of housing 
needs, would commence immediately following adoption of this Plan, and was 
expected to take place during the winter. The new Plan would be able to 
consider the additional information that she anticipated would be published 
relating to the Housing and Planning Act and Starter Homes regulations. She 
then confirmed that the LPMWG would be the correct forum to consider 
changes to the Borough’s affordable housing policies and said that, once 
drafted, planning policies have to be agreed by Cabinet for public consultation 
before being finally approved by the General Assembly of the Council.

Members referred to affordability and felt that, although affordable houses 
were being built, they still worked out too expensive for the majority of those in 
Dartford looking to buy a house. The Head of Regeneration replied that the 
issues associated with affordability were understood but said that its definition 
had been defined nationally and there were cost constraints due to viability. 
The Head of Housing confirmed that the ability to deliver the required amount 
of affordable housing depended on the associated viability of each 
development site and involved careful negotiation with the developer.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

12

One Member again referred to the numbers of affordable homes that are 
being delivered and suggested that it would be better to deliver fewer homes 
that are more affordable, and are within the range of average wage earners, 
rather than adhering to the current definition of affordability. The Head of 
Regeneration replied that there may be some flexibility in the Local Plan to 
allow this but said that it would be a matter for the Development Control Board 
to decide whether they would accept the reduced number of more affordable 
homes in planning applications that would result from this approach. She said 
that officers would have to give this approach further consideration and 
assess the associated practicalities before deciding whether it would be a 
viable option. The Head of Housing also noted how there were different types 
of affordable home, which included affordable social rented, and said that 
those groups of people who would be considered eligible to apply for 
affordable homes, together with their associated needs, should be factored 
into the discussion.

Reference was then made to aspects of the Housing and Planning Act which 
may impact Dartford’s affordable housing related policies and should be given 
Member consideration. In relation to the ‘right to buy’ changes it was noted 
that the Act proposed that Councils sell their high value homes, which would 
have a negative impact on social rented stock. The Act also identified the 
need to provide ‘Starter Homes’, and the impact that would have on the 
current s106 process would need to be assessed. A proposed presumed 
granting of planning permission on brownfield sites is included in the Act, 
which may have implication for sites such as Lowfield Street. It also includes 
changes to the regulations covering Landlords. The Head of Housing agreed 
that the impact of these and other issues on the Council’s ability to meet 
housing need would require careful consideration once further detail had been 
released. He said that proposals relating to any changes required would be 
submitted to Cabinet before the end of the year. Members asked that the 
Policy Overview Committee Members be involved in the review of any policy 
changes prior to their consideration by Cabinet. The Head of Housing noted 
that policy changes would be subject to consultation and said that comments 
from Members during this exercise would be welcomed. He also noted how 
Members would be given a further opportunity to comment on any associated 
reports that are being presented to Cabinet at the preceding Cabinet Advisory 
Panel meeting.

In response to a question relating to the social housing that is being built by 
the Council on Temple Hill the Head of Housing noted that in order to build in 
other areas, utilising the 1-4-1 replacement budget, the Council would first 
have to identify suitable areas of land that were in its ownership in order to 
ensure financial viability.

The Head of Regeneration noted that there were no LPMWG meetings 
currently planned but agreed to approach the LPMWG Chairman and ask 
whether a meeting should be convened to consider the impact that the 
Housing and Planning Act may have on the ability of the Council to deliver 
affordable housing. The Chairman asked that Cabinet be notified that the 
issues associated with the provision of affordable housing were being referred 
to the LPMWG.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

13

RESOLVED:

1. That the intention to present a report to Cabinet, which considers the 
impact of the Housing and Planning Act, once further details have been 
released, on the Council’s ability to meet housing need, and 
consideration of any actions the Council may need to undertake in 
response, be noted.

2. That the Chairman of the Local Plan Members’ Working Group be 
asked whether a meeting should be convened to discuss affordable 
housing policy.

13. TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION 

This report outlined the Council’s approach to the supply of Temporary 
Accommodation (TA) to homeless clients and the Council’s current policy in 
relation to the delivery of this statutory service. It also outlined the current 
issues faced by both applicants and those who deliver the service and 
described potential options in relation to future service delivery.

The Head of Housing began by describing the statutory role of a local 
housing authority and explained how Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 
placed a statutory duty to provide advice and assistance to households that 
are homeless or threatened with homelessness. He said that the statutory 
duty to secure interim (TA) accommodation is triggered when the Local 
Authority has ‘reason to believe’ that an applicant may be ‘homeless’, may 
be ‘eligible for assistance’ and may have a ‘priority need’. He then noted 
how the service had changed over the years and the fact that more 
investigation now takes place before deciding whether someone needs 
housing assistance to ensure that they are genuinely homeless.

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then described how 
demand on the service was increasing. She said that there were 3 housing 
options officers who deal with 2,000 calls in a typical month and carry out 
1,000 housing options interviews per year. She said that the current wait for 
an appointment had increased from 1 week between 2013 and 2015 to 3 to 
4 weeks currently, which meant that people were often not being seen 
before they had reached a crisis point. She also noted that they had 
emergency procedures which enabled them to address those who are found 
to be already homeless. She said that they make up to around 250 
homeless decisions and prevent 100 applicants from becoming homeless 
every year.

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then talked Members 
through the application process and described how options to prevent 
homelessness are explored and how single applicants are advised to 
contact Porchlight for assistance. She then explained the interview process, 
where the possible outcomes are explained to the applicant, and said that 
the same officer is involved throughout the process. She said that the option 
of TA is only considered at the point of eviction.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

14

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then referred to a graph 
which showed the number of decisions and acceptances that had been 
made since 2001/02 and described how the numbers had been affected by 
changes to priority need categories and the introduction of prevention 
mechanisms but noted how the figures were now starting to rise again.

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then described the term 
‘temporary accommodation’ (TA) and said that it is used to describe 
properties procured for an applicant facing homelessness. She said that it is 
only possible to remove someone from TA if a permanent solution is found 
via an Assured Shorthold Tenancy (AST) or Assured Tenancy, or if they 
lose the TA due to their own actions (e.g. through having arrears or anti-
social behaviour). She said that the accommodation could be shared or self-
contained and is charged at rates between £25 and £75 per night by the 
landlord. She noted how Housing Benefit did not cover the full cost of the 
accommodation and said that the applicants were expected to pay a 
personal charge and that working households could be nil qualifiers. The 
Head of Housing then drew Members’ attention to the fact that Dartford has 
been forced to place people in TA outside of the Borough, due to London 
Boroughs making their own TA placements in Dartford, and noted how they 
worked continuously to keep this number as low as possible.

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then referred to the graph 
which showed the numbers of people in TA since 2007 and described the 
work that had been carried out to keep the numbers under control, but then 
said that the increasing gap between the amount of Housing Benefit being 
paid and the rents being charged by landlords over the last three years were 
causing the numbers being placed in TA to increase again.

The Housing Options and Private Sector Manager then referred to the 
private rented sector and noted how it was historically used to discharge the 
Council’s duty as an alternative to social housing and how it had previously 
been possible to negotiate with landlords to allow households on a low 
income to remain in occupation. She said that 48% of accepted 
homelessness cases were as a result of an AST being bought to an end 
through no fault of the tenant and said that landlords were unwilling to let to 
households on low income because of the difference between market rents 
and Housing Benefit together with the prospect of future welfare reform.

The Head of Housing then talked Members through other challenges that 
were being faced and said that Dartford’s popularity as a place to live and 
commuting opportunities worked against those who found themselves facing 
homelessness. He also noted how those who may have previously been 
interested in taking part in Dartford’s Private Leasing Scheme (DPLS) were 
now being offered better rates and incentives by London authorities and 
competing TA landlords. He then referred to the continuing high demand for 
the limited amount of social housing stock that was available in Dartford and 
also referred to the issues impacting the social housing managed by 
Housing Associations and the unintended consequences of the changes 
that are being made to Housing Policy.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

15

The Head of Housing then talked Members through the possible options 
going forward and said that the DPLS could be made more attractive. He 
also said that the block booking of TA could also be investigated, although 
landlords might not wish to be locked into such an arrangement. He then 
noted how the Council was already increasing its own housing portfolio but 
could consider building more. He referred to the introduction of an incentive 
scheme for landlords, to help Dartford compete with the London Boroughs, 
but felt that they would be unable to make a business case for this. He said 
that the Council’s own housing stock could be used but this would result in 
fewer properties being made available for those on the housing list. He said 
that further supported housing could be converted for TA use but noted the 
sensitivities associated with this if existing residents have to be relocated. 
He also referred to a ‘homeless at home’ option whereby financial support 
can be given to families to discourage them from evicting someone who is 
living with them. He also said that the Council could invest in its own 
provision, in a similar way to other local authorities, but noted that this had 
financial implications.

In summary the Head of Housing described the overall scenario and 
highlighted the lack of control that they had over many of the elements 
associated with homelessness. He referred to long term renters who were 
now finding themselves being made legally homeless and the increasing 
need to use emergency measures to address immediate homeless 
situations. He said that the limited amount of available affordable housing in 
the Borough was contributing to the problem and confirmed that the service 
would definitely overspend again this year.

Members acknowledged the pressures being placed on the service and 
asked whether more statistics could be made available on the property 
types being used for TA and their location. The Head of Housing replied that 
he could make that information available and noted how some 
accommodation was shared and some was self-contained. The Housing 
Options and Private Sector Manager noted how TA statistics have to be 
provided to the Department for Communities and Local Government and 
confirmed that the Council aims to ensure that no one has to stay in TA for 
longer than the 6 weeks defined in the legislation.

Members then referred to Universal Credit and the impact that the payment 
of housing related benefit directly to claimants, rather than their landlords, 
could have on those who find it difficult to manage their finances, which 
could lead to an increased number of evictions. The Head of Housing 
confirmed this to be a risk and referred to the worrying results that had been 
received from the various pilots that had been held. He noted that many 
tenants would be able to cope but emphasised the need for a high level of 
engagement with those who would require more help to manage their 
finances.

In response to a question the Head of Housing confirmed that they were 
receiving notifications from most London Boroughs when people were being 
housed in Dartford. 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

16

Members asked a question relating to the timescales associated with a 
homelessness application and were advised by the Housing Options and 
Private Sector Manager that the initial investigation must be completed 
within 31 days and that if someone challenges a decision not to provide help 
then 55 days are allowed to conduct a review. She also added that, due to 
the small size of the team, an external reviewer is used and that the Council 
is able to provide accommodation during the review period if considered 
necessary.

In response to a question the Head of Housing confirmed that, if the Council 
was able to increase the number of properties reserved for use as TA from 
its own housing stock, then any surplus TA availability could be offered for 
use by other local authorities.

Members expressed admiration for the team responsible for the day to day 
management of homeless situations and recognised the emotional 
pressures involved and asked that their appreciation be passed to all those 
involved in the process. 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

14. CORPORATE PLAN - PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

This report provided the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 4 of 2015-16.

One Member suggested that the Council’s waste recycling policy be 
considered at a future meeting. Other Members noted how the issues 
associated with the management of waste had recently been considered by 
other Committees and felt that a further review was not required and that the 
issues associated with the Council’s failure to meet its waste recycling target 
were already understood.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

15. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2015 - 2016 

This report presented the work that had been carried out by the Policy 
Overview Committee during the municipal year 2015 - 2016.

Members thanked the Committee Co-ordinator for compiling the report and 
agreed for it to be referred to Cabinet.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 14 JUNE 2016

17

RESOLVED:

That the annual report of the Committee be noted and referred to Cabinet for 
their consideration.

16. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

The Chairman confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during discussion of previous agenda items:

 Dartford Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group – 
March 2017

 Pharmacy Services - June 2017

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the amendments minuted above, be noted.

The meeting closed at 10.06 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN





15 August 2016 - 31 December 2016

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been possible 
to obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the ratepayer cannot 
be traced or where the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Council Tax

To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to obtain 
payment because the taxpayer cannot be 
traced or the debt is otherwise 
irrecoverable.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing Benefit 
overpayments where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment, where the 
Tribunals Service has exercised its 
discretion not to recover overpaid sums 
or where recovery is not permissible 
under the relevant Housing Benefit or 
Council Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
8 Sep 2016

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Local Scheme of Support for 
Council Tax

To approve revisions to the Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme to be 
effective from 1 April 2017.

Cabinet
27 Oct 2016

General Assembly 
of the Council
12 Dec 2016

Public consultation via 
website.

Consultation with Major 
preceptors.

Report to Cabinet 2 
Jun 2016

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 14 JUNE 2016

1. Summary

1.1  To review the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 
14 June 2016 and to consider whether any item should be referred to the next 
meeting for a more detailed discussion.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the list of action points arising from the Committee meeting held on 14 
June 2016 be noted and that the Committee consider whether any item 
requires a report to be submitted to the next meeting, for more detailed 
discussion.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. List of Action Points

No. Item Responsible Officer
1 At their meeting on 15 December 2015, during 

consideration of the item relating to the Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group, Members asked that a letter be written to the 
Secretary of State expressing concern at the funding 
issues that had been raised during the debate. The 
response received advised that the Committee’s 
concerns should be raised with NHS England as they 
are the body responsible for setting allocations to 
CCGs.

A subsequent letter was sent to the Chief Executive of 
NHS England and, as a response had not been 
received, Members at the meeting held on 14 June 
2016 asked that NHS England be chased for a reply.

Copies of the letters sent to NHS England are 
attached at Appendix A.

Adrian Gowan

2 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, 
reference had been made to an investigation that had 
been carried out into drug wastage and Members had 
asked to be supplied with further details.

A copy of the results of an associated review that was 
commissioned by NHS England was distributed to all 
Committee members.

Alan Stoneham



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

3 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, 
Members asked that Parish and Town Councils be 
made aware of the impact that pharmacy related 
funding changes may have on rural pharmacies and 
the services that they deliver.

A summary of the concerns that were raised at the 
meeting, together with a copy of the report and 
associated website address, was emailed to all Parish 
and Town Councils.

Alan Stoneham

4 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of the item on Pharmacy Services, 
Members asked that a letter be sent to Minister 
responsible for Community Health and Care 
expressing concern at the impact that pharmacy 
related funding changes may have on rural 
pharmacies and the services that they deliver.

A copy of the letter sent is attached at Appendix B.

Adrian Gowan

5 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of an item relating to the progress being 
made by the local Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Members asked for an update on the measures being 
taken to address car parking issues at Darent Valley 
Hospital.

An update that had been provided by the Chief 
Executive of Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust was 
distributed to all Committee members.

Alan Stoneham

6 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of an item relating to the progress being 
made by the local Clinical Commissioning Group, 
Members asked to be provided with further 
information on GP staffing levels

Additional information provided by the Director for 
Performance Delivery, Dartford Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group was 
distributed to all Committee members.

Alan Stoneham

7 At their meeting on 14 June 2016, during 
consideration of an item relating to Temporary 
Accommodation, Members asked whether additional 
information could be provided on the property types 
being used and their location.

Peter Dosad



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

The additional information provided by the Head of 
Housing was distributed to all Committee members.

8 At the meeting held on 14 June 2016 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from the Director for Performance Delivery, Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group, asked that she be invited to return in March 
2017 to provide a further update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

9 At the meeting held on 14 June 2016 the Policy 
Overview Committee, having received a presentation 
from Pharmacy Service representatives, asked that 
they, and a representative from the Local Pharmacy 
Committee, be invited to return in June 2017 to 
provide a further update to the Committee.

The Work Plan has been updated accordingly.

Alan Stoneham

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and 
demonstrate improvement.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None 
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None 
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Letters sent to the Department of Health
Appendix B – Letter sent to the Minister responsible for Community Health 

and Care



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A



This page is intentionally left blank 







APPENDIX B





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

DEMENTIA FRIENDLY COMMUNITIES

1. Summary

1.1 To receive an update on the initiatives and projects being progressed by Kent 
County Council’s Dementia Friendly Communities team.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the initiatives and projects being progressed by Kent County Council’s 
Dementia Friendly Communities team be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. At its meeting on 1 September 2015 the Committee received a further 
briefing from Tracey Schneider, Kent County Council’s Project Officer 
for Dementia Friendly Communities, on the continuing work that the 
Dementia Friendly Communities team were doing to develop Kent as a 
dementia friendly community in order to improve the quality of life for 
people living with dementia and their carers.

3.2. An associated Kent Dementia Action Alliance has evolved from a 
community necessity to better meet the needs of people with dementia. 
It had its roots in a whole system collaborative approach to issues 
associated with dementia, and a desire to integrate social care and 
mental health services. In recognising the need for people to live well 
with dementia it subsequently identified the need to involve a wider 
range of partners including police forces, fire and rescue services, local 
authorities, local transport, charities, community groups, businesses, 
care providers and health trusts.

3.3. The outcomes of the individual members of the Alliance range from 
ensuring that people with dementia have choice and control over 
decisions about their lives, to making them feeling a valued part of 
family, community and civic life. The Alliance also allows members to 
share good practice, ideas and learning techniques.

3.4. The types of project being progressed range from intergenerational 
projects designed to create better understanding between age groups 
and to address wider communication issues, to larger community 
projects which involve enthusing local people to create a culture which 
is more responsive to the needs of those living with dementia.

3.5. As agreed at the 1 September 2015 meeting, Mrs Schneider has been 
invited to attend this meeting in order to provide a further update on the 
progress that has been made on the projects that have been delivered 
in the Dartford area, and outline work planned for the future.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Health and Wellbeing is a corporate theme in the Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None
Legal Implications  None 
Staffing Implications  None
Administrative Implications  None 
Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

          None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services,
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



                            
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

20 SEPTEMBER 2016

FAIRFIELD MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

1. Summary

1.1 To submit to the Committee, Places For People Management Ltd’s Quarterly                     
Report on the management of the Fairfield Pool since its opening in February 
2016. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Quarterly Report produced by Places For People Management Ltd 
at Appendix A to the report, be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Fairfield was closed on 31 March 2014, to make way for a major rebuild 
and enhancement to a tired but much loved leisure facility. 

3.2. During the redevelopment of the Fairfield Pool site there was intensive 
preparation of the procurement documents to secure an experienced 
and appropriate leisure contractor, to manage the completed Fairfield.

3.3. A report was presented to Cabinet 22 October 2015. This set out the 
detail of the procurement process, results of the tender and asked 
Members to approve the grant of a management contract and lease to 
the preferred bidder, Places For People Management Ltd (Min.No.56).

3.4. The period from Places For People Management Ltd being notified of 
the award of the Fairfield contract to the opening of Fairfield, followed a 
short and intense three and half months mobilisation period, for all 
parties involved.

3.5. The Fairfield opening weekend, started with a preview evening on 
Friday 13 February with the doors being opened to the public on 
Saturday 14 February 2016.

3.6. The opening phase of the new Fairfield, has been extremely successful 
with high demand, attracting 110,848 visits during the quarter from 
April to June.

3.7. The first Fairfield Quarterly Report (Appendix A) is attached as part of 
this report, and clearly demonstrates the investment and hard work by 
the Council and Places For People Management Ltd into the facility 
during the opening phase.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2: Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities



                            
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

20 SEPTEMBER 2016

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The income to be received from Places For 
People Management Ltd represents a significant 
improvement from the position pre-refurbishment 
whereby, in the last year of operation, a 
contribution of £95K p.a. was made to operator. 
The additional income is reflected in the budget 
and the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Legal Implications Under Section 19 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 the Council 
has the power to provide such recreational 
facilities as it thinks fit, including indoor facilities 
consisting of sports centres and swimming pools. 
Ancillary facilities may also be provided, such as 
car parking and a place to buy food and drink.
A lease was granted in conjunction with the 
management contract and is excluded from the 
security of tenure provisions of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1954 so that the tenant has no 
automatic right to renew the lease at the end of 
the term. 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment In appointing Places For People Management 
Ltd as operator of Fairfield, there is a risk that 
they will fail to deliver on the requirements of the 
Contract and or Service Specification resulting in 
the Council’s desired outcomes (both financial 
and non-financial) not being achieved. This risk 
has been mitigated by the following actions:

 The provision of a detailed Service 
Specification;

 A thorough independent review of the bid 
submissions to ensure compliance with 
requirements;

 Legal contract (with a framework based on 
an industry standard Sport England 
toolkit);

 A Comprehensive Performance 
Framework will be implemented;

 Recognition that sufficient resources will 
be needed to both monitor and develop 



                            
POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

20 SEPTEMBER 2016

the contract and partnership in conjunction 
with the Operator;

 Operator incentivised by responsibility for 
income generation;

 A financial assessment has been carried 
out.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Fairfield Quarterly Report, April-June 2016

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Stephen Jefferson 
(01322) 343524

Policy and Corporate 
Support/
Internal Services

N/A





Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 1 of 10

APPENDIX A

Fairfield Quarterly Report

April – June 2016

To create active places and healthy people



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 2 of 10

Overview

The opening phase of the new Fairfield has been extremely successful with high demand for the 
facility and positive feedback on most service issues. We are already discussing opportunities to 
improve the site further or increase capacity of the site to accommodate the potential usage. At 
present rates we predict the capacity of the gym will be approached around February 2017 and the 
car park is already failing to meet demand at peak times so hope to agree plans to meet this demand 
and maximise use of Fairfield.

Feedback on customer service, the gym, classes and swimming lessons has been generally positive. 
There is potential to improve the pool changing facility, specifically with provision of additional 
changing and shower cubicles, keep reviewing the timetables to better balance customer demands 
and increase the capacity of the car park.

We feel that a very strong working relationship was quickly developed with Dartford Borough 
Council and have found the support offered when issues have arisen very positive. It is very pleasing 
that options to develop the service and facility at Fairfield can be discussed already based on the 
success seen to date.

Mobilisation of the New Fairfield

The contract to operate the new Fairfield was awarded at the beginning of November and a large 
scale mobilisation process began to successfully open the leisure centre just three and a half months 
later on Saturday 13th February.

There was huge support from PfP Leisure Business Development team and all head office 
departments and regional teams to support the Contract Manager and two dedicated mobilisation 
staff in Dartford to achieve such a quick turnaround. A positive working relationship with both 
Dartford Borough Council and Willmott Dixon was essential and quickly established.

The setup included significant investment from PfP Leisure in the region of £590,000. This included 
all gym equipment and installation, cycling and aerobic studio fit out, main hall and pool sports 
equipment, café installation, IT and access control systems, pool safety camera system and all 
operational equipment.

By mid-January we had recruited nearly 100 staff and an extensive training period was undertaken 
to prepare them all for Fairfield’s opening and 
establish the company’s standards and 
procedures.

Pre-sales of membership started in late 
December based from a temporary marketing 
suite on the edge of Fairfield’s grounds on 
Lowfield Street and the high level of demand 
for the new facility was immediately apparent.

We were very pleased to be able to support Dartford Borough Council in mitigating the impact of the 
closure of Acacia at the end of February with an initial membership offer of 3 months at £9.99 for 
Acacia members and continuation of the Health Matters programme that had been established. We 
were also fortunate to recruit a number of excellent staff from Acacia into our team.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 3 of 10

Finally, a VIP opening event for a select group 
of Dartford Borough Council invitees and local 
residents was held on the evening of 12th 
February to allow a first look at the new leisure 
centre, including catering, facility tours and 
membership offers and the option to swim in 
the pool. The following day the full opening of 
the building was supported by many staff from 
other PfP Leisure sites and was exceptionally 
well received with discounted swim prices, an 
additional outside coffee van and the start of a 
very busy half term week.

Membership and Utilisation Data

Between opening on 13th February and 30th June, Fairfield received 160,517 visits. In the quarter 
from April to June there were 110,848 visits for comparison in future reports. Extrapolating this 
through the full financial year, we might expect around 440,000 visits. Although it is not a direct 
comparison due to the facility mix and possible differences in reporting, this would be an increase in 
visitor numbers of around 60% compared to pre-refurbishment which is a significant result from the 
investment in the centre.

The membership numbers at the end of the quarter, with the percentage residing in Dartford 
Borough included, is in the table below and shows a very high proportion of use by Dartford 
residents.

Membership type
DBC Residents 
(DA1/DA2/DA3/
DA4/DA9/DA10)

Non-residents Total

Gym/all inclusive 2251 (88%) 307 (12%) 2558
Swim 581 (93%) 44 (7%) 625
Swim Lessons 952 (92%) 83 (8%) 1035 
Saver Cards 1107 (98%) 23 (2%) 1130

Membership numbers across all headings have exceeded expectations with swim memberships in 
particular being very well subscribed. We believe this could rise even higher if we were able to 
increase evening lane swimming availability through negotiation with Dartford District Swimming 
Club.

Swim lesson numbers are expected to continue to grow rapidly and achieve our target of 1,500 
swimmers by end of September. We understand that swimming lessons at the old site peaked at 
around 1,300 swimmers some years before the refurbishment so it is very encouraging to see this 
level of enrolment return so quickly.

As these main throughput drivers settle down we are targeting growth in hall and room usage at off-
peak times and instructor lead courses in these areas.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 4 of 10

Customer Complaints and Feedback Summary

We run a quarterly member experience survey by email using the Net Promoter Score (NPS) 
measure of customer satisfaction. This measure asks members likely they would be to recommend 
Fairfield on a scale of 0-10. The percentage of Detractors (scoring 0-6) is subtracted from the 
percentage of Promoters (scoring 9-10) to give the Net Promoter Score.

The first survey was sent in April 2016, 2 months after opening, with the following results:

Number of surveys sent Number of 
responses Response rate - %

2,018 298 15%

Detractors (0 - 6) Passive (7 - 8) Promoters (9 - 10) TOTAL
58 111 129 298
19% 38% 43% 100%
NPS
Net Promoter Score: 43% Promoters - 
19% Detractors 24

The average NPS score in April for Places for People Leisure was 33 and the national average for all 
leisure operators using the same survey was 30. We were extremely pleased to be scoring positively 
within 2 months of opening, with 80% of responses rating 7 or higher. Early reports from July’s 
survey indicate a further improvement with 54% of respondents scoring 9 or 10, increasing from 
43% in April and an NPS score of 38.

A few quotes from our promoters in the survey include:

“Very Clean!!  Staff supportive and welcoming. Life Guards attentive.” 10

“As a gym member, I am happy with the amount of machines available to use. The changing room is 
always clean and tidy. Gym staff are always friendly. The reception staff are always pleasant and 
greet me every morning with a smile.” 10

“The pool is always clean and tidy and the staff are always friendly and helpful.” 10

Major themes in customer feedback from the survey and on site, and action taken to improve, have 
been as follows:

Area Comment Action
Gym Good range of equipment, 

knowledgeable and attentive 
instructors.

-

Swimming Excellent swimming teachers at 
all levels.

Fresh, clean pool hall and pleased 
to be back at Fairfield.

-

Customer Service Staff friendly and helpful 
throughout the building.

-

Parking Capacity of car park too low

Parking enforcement too 

Outline spec/costs for increased 
capacity under review

Reviewed with MET Parking and 
changes made while charge 



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 5 of 10

severe/not clear enough notices were suspended.
Changing Rooms Too few privacy cubicles in all 

changing areas and showers and 
not enough family changing 
rooms

Proposal and quote from Prospec 
for additional cubicles under 
review.

Swimming Not enough lane swimming in 
evenings

Extra late evening sessions added 
Monday to Thursday. Monitoring 
swim club usage to consider 
balance of pool timetable.

IT Frustrations with self-service 
terminals and online booking

Teething problems with new 
systems reduced. Staff and 
customer training/awareness of 
systems increasing.

Marketing

Awareness of Fairfield, the demand for the facility and engagement in Dartford with web and social 
media content has been phenomenal. Our marketing approach has been focussed on minimising 
printed material on site and maximising awareness and promotion via the website and social media 
postings and this has largely been successful. Below is an overview of some of the key activity 
undertaken since launching in January.

Jan 2016

 6 x Billboards in and around Dartford for 2-4 weeks 
pre-opening. 

 Marketing Suite Wrap completed and pre-sales 
underway with £20.16 joining offer.

 Preopening competition for residents to create 
some good PR and awareness.

 Contra deal signed with DFC to provide extensive 
advertising.

 17.3K people reached through Facebook – a huge 
engagement. 

 Digital ad Campaign with KM media.

Feb 2016 

 Pre-opening membership sales figures exceed expectations with £20.16 offer extended to 
opening weekend. 

 Partnership with Dartford Living begins with a regular advert in the magazine. 
 Pre-Opening ads with KM Media. (Print) 
 Flythrough video posted on social media – 30k people reached and 10k video views



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 6 of 10

 VIP opening event hosted on 12th and full opening on 13th February with reduced price 
access. 

March 2016

 £99 for 3 month membership offer throughout March.
 Fairfield sponsor Demelza charity with prizes and advertising for the Bubble Rush event. (July 

2016) 
 Video released on social media to showcase pool inflatable. 
 Fairfield to host the Dartford Living Live event (April 2016) 
 Fairfield supporting staff members with personal ventures, but also increasing the profile of 

the centre. 

April 2016

 Fairfield attend first sponsorship match at DFC, 1 membership sold and many leads gained. 
PR exercise was successful.

 Gymnastics video posted on social media to launch gymnastics and trampoline programme.
 Link with Halfords to offer £99 bike voucher to annual membership joiners – over 30 joiners 

with this offer.
 Holiday camps launched with Fit for Sport – 75 attendees at both taster days.

May 2016

 Member referral campaign throughout May.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 7 of 10

 “Rule the Pool” swimming challenge launched to users of the Swimtag system that allows 
members to use a wristband to track their swimming distance and progress via an online 
account.

June 2016

 6 week fitness membership promotion – many enquiries joining on full memberships 
instead.

 Finding Dory promotion with Zoggs on shop stock and ASA for pool sessions.
 Coffee loyalty cards (free hot drink after buying 6) pushed.

Sports & Activity Development Plan Progress

The focus through opening has been to drive the major activity areas of fitness and swimming. 
However, there has been huge success with the “adopted” Health Matters programme. 

Activities in the hall will continue to develop after a strong start with regular bookings being 
established quickly.

Fitness, Health & Wellbeing

Membership club live is ahead of expectations as shown in appendix 1. However, there has been 
some real progress in health and wellbeing activity with a surprisingly large junior membership base 
and high demand for junior gym sessions and to attend with parents.

The number of referrals from GP’s has increased and reported to be higher than the Health Matters 
(HM) programme received at Acacia. There were 94 members on the Health Matters (GP Referral) 
category that moved across from Acacia and stayed past the 3 month introductory offer. At the end 
of June this had increased to 146 and continues to rise with high numbers of referrals still coming in. 
Our Community & Wellbeing Manager previously lead the Health Matters programme and has 
worked hard to maintain all the links she had established before but has also added new activities 
and Fairfield has added:

 Chairobics (wheelchair friendly class)
 Increased wheelchair access and attendance to HM gym sessions
 COPD assessments and exercise classes (delivered by Kent CC)
 Rebound Therapy for disabled adults (delivered by Kent CC)
 Archery for disabled adults (delivered by Kent CC from Oct’16)
 Dynamo’s junior weight management programme (delivered by DBC Healthy Living)
 Why Weight adult weight management programme (delivered by DBC Healthy Living from 

Sept’16)
 Nordic Walking

We are working to establish links with other partners to develop targeted and funded activities 
including the local CCG and Public Health and will meet with DBC to ensure we are working towards 
our shared objectives.

Swimming

Attendance figures in appendix 1 are fantastic with the number of swimming members especially 
pleasing and reflective of a very competitive price point.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 8 of 10

By end of June we were hosting national curriculum swimming lessons for 11 local schools and had 
1,242 swimmers on our own learn to swim programme, well on track for our ambitious target of 
1,500 in lessons by end of September 2016.

There is scope to amend the pool timetable to balance the availability of certain sessions as demand 
for aqua classes and lane swimming in the evenings is high. We extended opening hours on Monday 
to Wednesday evenings to add late lane swimming sessions but would ideally like to be able to move 
some swim club evening sessions to allow more public lane swimming at peak times. That said, the 
relationship with Dartford District swimming Club has established positively with many positive 
comments about the refurbished centre. 

Hall & Sports

We were able to fill a lot of hall space with clubs moving across from Acacia as it closed and demand 
for casual badminton was high before the summer.

Our partnership with Fit for Sport to deliver holiday activities started well with around 75 children at 
each of two taster days at Easter but needs some review and work to deliver better attendance in 
their regular holiday sessions.

Gymnastics, trampolining and soft play sessions launched after the Easter holidays. Gymnastics has 
grown steadily and more sessions will likely be added for September. However, trampoline coaching 
has not been so successful and will be reviewed, particularly on Saturday mornings.

As the pattern or use becomes more settled we will look to target off-peak times to promote use but 
also introduce more coached sessions.

Operational Expenditure and Income

Total income throughout the first quarter of the financial year has been strong. The main 
contributors have been the fitness membership figures and excellent swimming attendance across 
all areas. Although the budget continues to grow through and the income will begin to plateau as we 
approach capacities for activity areas this is an extremely positive start.

Total expenditure to support the high demand evidenced in attendances and income is 16.4% over 
budget for the first quarter. The majority of this has been across staffing, instructors and cleaning to 
deliver and support activities to meet the demand.

Maintenance Programme and Grounds Maintenance

The maintenance programme is being managed by the site Technical Manager. All statutory 
inspections have been established and ongoing maintenance in place as required during the one 
year defect period. Generally the building has been performing well with minimal disruption to 
service and remains well presented.

There have been 65 defects reported to Willmott Dixon to the end of June 2016 and they have 
generally been very good at resolving these quickly. However, there are a few design issues or 
omissions which are being monitored and will need to be resolved. These have been notified 
separately so that responsibility can be established and an action plan implemented.

Emerging challenges include redecoration of the white walls and managing the end of defects period 
to include all settlement cracks and open issues. We are also compiling the asset database in an 
electronic format.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 9 of 10

Major Accidents and Incidents Report

Totals
Category Feb’16 Mar’16 Apr’16 May’16 Jun’16
Accidents 15 6 9 3 11
Incidents 2 1 0 1 2
RIDDOR 0 0 0 0 0

To date the number of accidents remains low and have been dealt with on site. The number of 
recorded incidents is low and we are working to record more of the minor incidents that occur on 
site on the new recording system introduced in April.

Of the total 44 accidents recorded from February to June, 5 involved members of staff. The 39 
customer accidents related to 160,517 visits, approximately 2.4 accidents per 10,000 visits.

Cleaning Summary

General cleaning across the building has been good and improved since opening with several 
cleaning schedule reviews following the unexpectedly high demand for the facility since opening.

The contract cleaners have delivered consistent staffing levels and responded to areas of concern in 
a timely manner.

There are some areas for improvement within the cleaning programme, predominantly around the 
changing room, shower and pool floors. A number of cleaning regimes and products have been 
trialled and some good progress was made but needs to be delivered consistently. There is also an 
ongoing review of the slip resistance of the tiles in these areas with Willmott Dixon as there appears 
to be an underlying issue.

In the near future we will introduce a redecoration schedule to start picking up the white walls in 
particular that are showing signs of wear and tear.

Help Desk Performance Summary and Performance Deductions

The Payment and Performance Monitoring System was agreed and signed off in late July. A 
proposed reporting format has been agreed. However, there are no performance failures to report 
for this first period and all incidents and issues affecting service have been notified to Dartford 
Borough Council at the time as appropriate.

Event Management Progress Update

There have been no large events hosted in the quarter but the following were planned for the next 
period:

3rd July 2016 – Oceans of Fun event to promote children’s swimming in partnership with the ASA and 
Zoggs.

16th/17th July 2016 – attendance at Dartford Festival as sponsor including promotional pitch, 
activities on the second stage and fly through video on large screens.

7th September 2016 – National Fitness Day.



Fairfield Quarterly Report: Apr-Jun 2016 Page 10 of 10

Environmental and Energy Progress

The building management system is beginning to be refined and environmental conditions within 
the building have generally been good.

Target utility consumption for the first contract year are based on bid assumptions and the 
consideration of installing a CHP unit. At present this proposal is under review as the return on 
investment may not be as good as expected based on current consumption. However, this explains 
the significant variance of actual consumption compared to electricity and gas targets in the table 
below.

We will continue to develop an action plan to reduce consumption further as we understand the 
building through the first year and the targets for year 2 will be based on year 1.

Electricity Gas Water
(KWH) (KWH) (m3)

April 39980 137096 569
May 34330 88233 518
June 32630 67454 575

Total Quarter 1 106940 292783 1662
Target Quarter 1 30583 660000 7251
Difference 76357 -367217 -5589

Targets

In summary it has been a very successful and exciting opening period for Fairfield with many 
achievements to note. Over the next period we will be:

- Proposing some site developments to help maximise the potential usage.
- Driving membership numbers above our original target of 2,810 by end of September
- Driving swimming lesson numbers towards our target of 1,500 by end of September
- Continue trying to establish links and funding sources for health and wellbeing programme
- Developing hall and studio use and programme of coached/instructed activities



CABINET
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

CORPORATE PLAN – PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the latest set of Corporate Plan performance indicators 
for quarter 1 of 2016-17.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the Performance Indicators Monitoring 
Report attached at Appendix A.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Dartford Borough Council’s Corporate Plan 2014–17 includes a set of 
performance indicators relating to the Council’s own service 
performance and the wider performance of the Borough.

3.2. This latest Performance Indicators Monitoring Report, attached at 
Appendix A, includes baseline data for 2014-15 and 2015-16, and data 
for quarter 1 of 2016-17.

3.3. The indicators either present data only or they have targets assigned to 
them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators may report 
annually, and these have been identified in the report.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



CABINET
8 SEPTEMBER 2016

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2014-2017 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and 
Corporate Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2014-17

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q1 2016-17
Performance Indicator Status

 Data Only

 OK

 Warning

 Alert

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Community Infrastructure Levy Income                                                                                                                                                                                               Source: DBC Planning/PPI29
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

               2014-15    
               Result           £55,575

               2015-16
               Result         £614,339

              Q1 Result        £243,668    
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to eligible development since April 2014. 
Payment of CIL is not required until the liable development commences and therefore it is not unusual 
for it to take some time before the level of CIL revenue increases. During quarter 1 of 2016-17, one site 
has commenced construction and one site has completed all instalment payments. 15% of the revenue 
generated from CIL liable developments in their area, will be passed to town/parish councils and local 
neighbourhoods and a further proportion of the total CIL revenue will be used for administrative costs.

Projected planning fee income for the year                                                                                                                           Source: DBC Planning/PPI31
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Projection  £546,840
                Actual        £553,058

                2015-16
                 Projection £446,840
                 Actual       £626,790

               Q1 Projection   £111,711 
               Q1 Actual         £148,301
               

Moderate fee income for the months of April and May were significantly surpassed by June’s monthly 
total of over £70K, largely attributable to the receipt of three major category planning applications; the 
largest of which brought in nearly £24K.  As a consequence the quarter ended with the actual fee 
income exceeding the projected target.    

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall business birth/death rate                                                                                                                                Source: ONS Business Demography/BI1

2012 and 2013 2014
               2012  
               Births                   480
               Deaths                 385                 
                     
                2013  
                Births                   605
                Deaths                 350

                 Births                     630
                 Deaths                   385

There continues to be more business birth rates than business death rates in the Borough. Business 
birth rates in 2014 are up by 4.13% from 2013. Business death rates in 2014 are also up by 10% from 
2013. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business birth rate in 2014 was 7,680 compared to 7,745 in 
2013. The overall business death rate in Kent in 2014 was 5,680 compared to 5,850 in 2013. (Annual 
Indicator – next data due Nov 2016)  



2

District wide unemployment rate                                                                                                                                      Source: NOMIS Claimant Count/BI2
Jan 2014 June 2016

                 Result             2.1%                    Result               1.1 %  
                   

There were 735 unemployed people in the Borough in June 2016, which represents an unemployment 
rate of 1.1%. Unemployment in the Borough decreased by 1.3% (10 unemployment benefit claimants) 
since May 2016 and fell by 12.0% since the same time last year (100 fewer unemployment benefit 
claimants). In Kent overall (KCC area), the unemployment rate in June 2016 was 1.5%. 

Town centre average footfall                                                                                                                                   Source: DBC Town Centre Management/BI3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                 2014-15
                 Result          117,365

                 2015-16
                 Result          107,638

                     Q1 Result     133,071                         
Average town centre footfall for the period 1 January to 30 June is up 1.4% on the same period in the 
previous year. Thursday and Saturday remain the busiest days which are both market days. The 
busiest day in month commencing 30 May 2016 was Thursday 2 June with 26,193 visitors. The peak 
hour of the month was 11:00 on Saturday with a footfall of 3,423.

Number of new homes built                                                                                                                                                        Source: DBC Planning/BI4
2013-14 and 2014-15 2015-16

                  2013-14
                  Result                602
                 
                 2014-15

                  Result                565

                     Result                971           
2015-16 finally saw the long-anticipated increase in housing completions, following the very significant 
slow-down during the recession and the extended recovery period.  There have been a number of large 
planning consents in place for several years and higher levels of housing delivery have been expected 
but not materialised until now, on the back of these planning consents.

The highest number of completions during the year have been at the Northern Gateway (413 homes), 
comprising mainly sites on the former GSK site land as well as the former Arjo Wiggins site off 
Burnham Road.  There has also been significant delivery at The Bridge (234 homes).  80 homes were 
completed at Eastern Quarry and 44 homes at St Clements Valley.

The oldest planning consents, those at Eastern Quarry and Ebbsfleet which now fall within the 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) area, have continued to be slow in coming forward.  The 
EDC have projected a step change in delivery from this coming year.

The outlook for next year’s housing delivery looks positive, with 500 homes currently under 
construction and an expected uplift in EDC delivery, particularly at Eastern Quarry and on the former 
Northfleet West Sub-station site (Ebbsfleet Green).  The very large planning pipeline, as well as 
government funding through the EDC to help unlock the Ebbsfleet Valley sites, bodes well for housing 
delivery in future years, with completions expected to exceed the current year’s performance.
  

2006-07 2007-082008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16

Housing delivery required to 
achieve Core Strategy ‘up to 
17,3000’ homes (planning 
phasing)

460 460 460 460 460 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,020 1,020

Annual average local housing 
need requirement, based on 
national projection

585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585 585

Actual delivery 659 603 610 151 362 322 422 602 565 971
(Annual Indicator – next data due 2017) 



3

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Usage of Borough Council sports facilities                                                                                                        Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS1
2015-16 2016-17

                

Park Run (average users)
Q2                                 131
Q3                                 130
Q4                                 133
Princes Park Mini Pitches (users)
Q1                                   62
Q2                                   68
Q3                                   67
Q4                                   62
Fairfield Leisure Centre
Total centre visit, overall 
categories, for February to 
March 2016              49,669

    

              
 

Park Run (average users)
Q1                                    139
Junior Park Run (average users)
Q1                                     52
Princes Park Mini Pitches (users)
Q1                                      45   
Fairfield Leisure Centre
Total centre visit, overall 
categories:
Q1                             110,848                 

Park Run marked its 2nd anniversary and 100th event on the 23 July with Dame Kelly Holmes joining in 
the run and celebrations. Junior Park Run was launched at the end of May and is already becoming 
popular with young runners. Fairfield, in the short time the facility has been open, the 
usage/membership in all areas, has outstripped the expectations and targets originally set by Places 
For People.

Number of local groups supported through Community Grant and other grant schemes                            Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS2
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15
                Result                    44

                2015-16
                Result                    30

        
          

Salute to Youth                   
Q1                                        0
Community Grant Scheme
Q1                                        0
DBC Community Fund 
Q1                                        2                                             

In 2015-16, the Salute to Youth scheme, Community Grant scheme and DBC Community Fund 
awarded grants to 30 local groups. In quarter 1 of 2016-17, 2 grants were awarded under the DBC 
Community Fund.

Percentage attendance at the Orchard Theatre (% of total seats available which are used)                         Source: DBC Policy & Corporate Support/PCS3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                2014-15          
                Result             58.33%

                2015-16
                Result            64.42%

                    Q1 Result         56%  
The average percentage attendance at the Orchard Theatre for quarter 1 of 2016-17 was 56%. This is 
similar to the same quarter last year which had an average attendance of 57%. 



4

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Overall life expectancy gap in the Borough                                                                                                     Source:  Public Health England, Health Profiles/BI5

2010-12 and 2011-13 2010-14
                  2010-12
                  Male                  7.7

                    Female             6.2
                  
                   2011-13
                   Male                 7.6
                  Female             8.3

                    Males                9.15
                   Females            6.78

Using five years’ worth of mortality information (2010 to 2014), life expectancy at birth in the Borough is 
estimated to be 80.5 years, lower than the Kent life expectancy of 81.7. Life expectancy was 9.15 years 
lower for men in the most deprived areas of the Borough than the least deprived areas and for women 
this was 6.78 years.  (Annual Indicator – next data due 2016) 

Percentage of obese children in year six                                                                                                        Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI6
2012-13 to 2014-15 2014-15

                    2012-13      
                    Result          22.8%
                     
                    2013-14
                    Result          23.2%

                   Result              19.6%        In 2014-15, 19.6% of children in year six (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese in the Borough. 
This is an improvement from the previous year where 23.2% of children in year six were classified as 
obese. In Kent overall (KCC area), the figure is 18.1%. (Annual Indicator  - next data due Nov 16)  

Percentage of adults achieving at least 150 minutes of physical exercise per week                                               Source: Public Health England, Health Profiles /BI7
2012 to 2014 2015

                    2012 
                    Result        52.9%
                   
                    2013 
                    Result        56.6%

                    2014
                    Result        55.8%

                      Result          57.8%
Latest available figures for 2015 show that 57.8% of adults were physically active in the Borough. This 
is just below the average for Kent (59%) and just above the average for England (57%). (Annual Indicator 
– next data due 2017)  



5

SAFER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Total number of arrests instigated by CCTV                                                                                            Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI14
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                   2014-15    
Result                45

                   2015-16
                   Result                76

                    Q1 Result           11                   
Owing to staffing, CCTV has been operating a reduced service during this period; although another 
member of staff has been trained on the system and is supporting when they are able to do so. Figures 
are also impacted by the availability of police resources to make an arrest.

Total number of arrests supported by CCTV                                                                                           Source: DBC Enforcement & Regulatory Control/EARPI15
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                   2014-15   
Result              148

                   2015-16
                   Result               51

                    Q1 Result          10               
Owing to staffing, CCTV has been operating a reduced service during this period; although another 
member of staff has been trained on the system and is supporting when they are able to do so. Figures 
are also impacted by the availability of police resources to make an arrest.

Percentage of high risk (categories A & B) food hygiene inspections due and completed                                Source: DBC Environmental Health/EHPI5 
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target           100%
                  Result           100%

                  2015-16
                  Target            100%
                  Result            100%

                    Q1 Target        100%
                    Q1 Result       100%

All high risk inspections that were due were completed in quarter 1. Performance in previous years has 
been consistently met with 100% of inspections due and completed.

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Total number of crimes committed in the Borough                                                                                            Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI8

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 and 
2015-16

2016-17

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014
Result           8,318

               2015-16
                   Result           8,087                           

                    Q1 Result       2,414                 

There has been an increase in criminal damage incidents by 100 on last year’s level, accounting for a 
large amount of the total crime increase. Other crime types which have seen a noticeable increase 
include shoplifting, theft from motor vehicle, and violence against the person. 

With violence against the person it is important to note that the term covers a vast range of offences; 
ranging from threats, harassment, and assault without injury, up to serious assaults and murder. 
Historically some minor assault reports have involved contact which could be considered as accidental 
rather than malicious, and the exact nature of each individual crime which accounts for the rise cannot 
be ascertained from information available, but may not be what one would traditionally consider as a 
‘violent offence.’ 

The violence against the person category would also cover incidents of domestic violence, and 
therefore may represent a positive in respect of demonstrating that victims are having the confidence in 
services to report abuse and seek help.



6

Number of criminal damage offences in the Borough                                                                                        Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI9
Oct 2013 to Sep 2014 and 

2015-16
2016-17

Oct 2013 to Sep 2014   
Result         1,197

                     2015-16
                     Result         1,237

                    Q1 Result         403           

                     

There is no obvious explanation for the increase based on the information available. Police incidents of 
note are shared with the CSU every morning, and while there have been several occasions when 
multiple incidents of damage have occurred in close proximity, such as several cars all parked in one 
road; there has not been anything which could be considered as an ongoing trend in one particular 
area and therefore opportunities to tackle this crime have been limited.

Number of recorded anti-social behaviour incidents in the Borough                                                              Source: Enforcement & Regulatory Control/BI10
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                    2014-15
                    Result          2,735

                    2015-16                         
                    Result          2,747

                    Q1 Result         709           
From 2012, quarter 1 totals have been 808, 737, 772, and 636 last year. Although an increase has been 
seen on last year’s level, in the wider context, levels are lower than they have been in previous years.



7

ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of household waste recycled or composted                                                                                              Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target             30%
                  Result        27.46%
                  2015-16
                  Target             30%
                  Result        25.38% 

              Q1 Target                30%
              Q1 Result   25.60% (est)

Overall performance is down because of reduced levels of recycling, increased quantities of general 
waste and increased rejections at the Materials Recycling Facility. Performance for 2016-17 should be 
better if garden waste promotions go well.

Number of households participating in the green bin service                                                                                      Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI4
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target           4,500
                  Result           5,366
                  2015-16
                  Target            6,000  
                  Result            5,817

             Target (by year end) 6,000  
             Q1 Result              5,989

Service relaunch had to be delayed until April 2016 for operational reasons; customers should increase 
to over 6,000 in 2016-17.

Number of fly tipping incidents                                                                                                                                        Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI7
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target              120 
                  Result              104
                  2015-16
                  Target                120
                  Result                89

               Q1 Target                    30              
               Q1 Result                 59
 

The number of small items (such as settees and mattresses) being dumped continues to increase.

Number of graffiti incidents                                                                                                                                              Source: DBC Waste & Parks/WRPI8
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target              120 
                  Result                35
                  2015-16
                  Target              120
                  Result                45        

               Q1 Target                    30                
               Q1 Result                 10

The amount of graffiti in the Borough remains low.

Number of households taking part in energy efficiency initiatives in the Borough                                                 Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI43
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                   2014-15
                   Result              841
                   2015-16
                   Result              653

               Q1 Result                 64   
The data included in this performance indicator is gathered from a number of different sources relating 
to different projects and programmes and is proving difficult to collect. The end of year position is 
expected to be around that of 2015-16 but this will not be confirmed until end of year data is provided 
and analysed. This figure is reported by quarter.



8

HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of emergency repairs completed on time                                                                                                   Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI5
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target           100%
                  Result           100%

                  2015-16
                  Target           100%
                  Result         99.88%

                    Q1 Target        100%
                    Q1 Result        100%

Performance achieved target for the percentage of emergency repairs completed on time for 2015-16. 
Previously, 99.56% of emergency repairs were completed on time in 2013-14 and 100% were 
completed on time in 2014-15. The figure for 2015-16 of 99.88% is a cumulative total rate.

Percentage of urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                                          Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI6        
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target            98%
                  Result        95.49%

                  2015-16
                  Target             98%
                  Result        95.42%

                    Q1 Target          98%
                    Q1 Result     94.95%              

Performance was just below target for the percentage of urgent repairs completed on time for 2015-16.
Quarter 1 performance is good but just below target. This is in part caused but the concentration in 
improving the performance of non-urgent repairs and the contractor apportioning its finite resources to 
meet the Councils priorities. Previously, 94.55% of urgent repairs were completed on time in 2013-14 
and 95.49% were completed on time in 2014-15. The figure for quarter 1 is a cumulative total rate but 
Junes performance was in excess of 96%

Percentage on non-urgent repairs completed on time                                                                                                  Source:  DBC Housing Services/HPI7
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target            98%
                  Result        90.37%

                  2015-16
                  Target             98%
                  Result        91.91%

                    Q1 Target          98%
                    Q1 Result     80.94%            

A management action plan is in place to improve the performance in this area as discussed at 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee in April 2016. This has meant that the contractor has targeted 
resources at the oldest jobs first in order to catch up and put the PI back on target. This inevitably 
means that the PI takes a short term hit as the oldest jobs get completed and recorded on the system. 
Although the cumulative quarter 1 performance is just under 81% the June performance was 88.41% 
indicating that the action plan and management corrections are working and should continue to 
improve moving forward.

Average time taken to re-let local authority housing                                                                                                    Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI8                                                                            
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                   2014-15
                   Target               21
                   Result          20.60

                   2015-16
                   Target               21
                   Result          19.45

                    Q1 Target             20
                    Q1 Result        19.94        

The average time (in days) taken to re-let local authority housing achieved target in 2015-16 and 
continues to perform on target for quarter 1 of 2016-17. Previously, the average time taken to re-let 
local authority housing was 19.29 days in 2013-14 and 20.60 days in 2014-15. The figure reported 
each quarter is a cumulative total rate for the year.



9

OVERALL BOROUGH INDICATORS
Number of new homes completed                                                                                                                                            Source: DBC Planning/BI11

2013-14 and 2014-15 2015-16
                   2013-14
                   Result               602
                 
                  2014-15

                   Result               565

                     Result                971           
Refer to page 2 and ‘Number of new homes built’ indicator for commentary.

Number of affordable homes completed                                                                                                                         Source: DBC Housing Services/BI12
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target             100
                  Result             151

                  2015-16
                  Target                 100
                  Result              103

                 Q1 Target               30                              
                 Q1 Result                4            

The final affordable homes number for completions in 2015-16 was just over the target of 100 despite 
the slow start. 2016-17 is starting in much the same vein and there is confidence that the target will be 
met. This was discussed at length at Overview & Scrutiny Committee in April 2016.
Looking ahead numerous sites planned to start are now in progress but the Council has no direct 
control over the physical timing of the delivery of the new units. Previously, 109 affordable homes were 
completed in 2013-14 and 151 were completed in 2014-15. The reported figure is working towards an 
annual target of 120.

Number of private sector dwellings returned to occupation                                                                                        Source: DBC Housing Services/BI13
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target              100
                  Result                96

                  2015-16
                  Target              115
                  Result              100    

                   Q1 Target             25                           
                   Q1 Result             33 

Performance is on target.



10

COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
COUNCIL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Percentage of Council Tax collected                                                                                                                           Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS3
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target          96.9%
                  Result          97.1%

                  2015-16
                  Target          96.8%
                  Result          97.3%

                    Jun Target     29.8%       
                    Jun Result     29.6%       

In-year council tax collection is down by 0.2% but in monetary terms an additional £859K has been 
collected compared to quarter 1 for 2015-16. 

Significant growth in the Tax Base over the past 12 months has resulted in an increase in collectable 
debit of £3.2million. This is the primary reason for the slight drop-off in collection rate for 2016-17 but 
confident that this deficit can be clawed back over the remainder of the year.

Percentage of Non Domestic Rates collected                                                                                                             Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/PS4
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target             98%
                  Result          97.9%

                  2015-16
                  Target          98.5%
                  Result          98.8%

                    Jun Target     31.3%
                    Jun Result     30.4%

In-year business rates collection is down 0.9% against target primarily due to Darent Valley Hospital 
now paying their liability by instalments (last year the liability of £1.548million was paid in full on 31st 
March 2015). The deficit in collection rate v target will reduce as the year progresses and respective 
instalments are paid.  

Average time (working days) to process a new Housing Benefit Claim                                                                Source: DBC Revenues & Benefits/RBPI1
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target                27
                  Result           26.33

                  2015-16
                  Target                25
                  Result           25.67

                    Q1 Target            23
                    Q1 Result            26 

The target for 2016-17 has been amended to 23 days to reflect the national average for speed of 
processing for 2014-15 (national average for 2015-16 not yet available).

Significant transition is taking place in the service at the moment whereby all agency staff/off-site 
processing staff are being removed from the partnership and replaced by permanent staff filling the 
number of vacant posts that were being carried. This is the primary reason for being slightly over target 
but the outcome of the transition will reduce the cost of employing agency/offsite processing by 
approximately £500K.

It is anticipated that there will be further improvements in the speed of processing once Risk Based 
Verification software has been introduced in September (a solution that defines evidence requirements 
as it carries out a risk assessment of new claims).

Average number of DBC working days lost because of short term sickness per employee                                   Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI5 
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target              4.5                                       
                  Result             2.98

                  2015-16      
                  Target               5.0
                  Result             5.02

                    Q1 Target       1.125
                    Q1 Result         1.00       

Short-term sickness absence for quarter 1 is slightly lower than target as expected.  Higher sickness 
levels tend to take place in quarter 3 and quarter 4.



11

Average number of DBC working days lost because of long term sickness per employee                                     Source: DBC Human Resources/FPI6
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target                 2
                  Result            4.14
                  2015-16

                   Target              4.0 
                   Result             3.21

                     Q1 Target          0.75       
                     Q1 Result          0.58   

Long-term sickness absence for quarter 1 is on track.

Percentage of supplier payments made within 30 days of receipt of invoice                                                                       Source: DBC Finance/FPI8                                                                              
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target        99.50%
                  Result        99.21%
                  2015-16
                  Target        99.50%
                  Result        99.03%

                    Q1 Target      99.50%   
                    Q1 Result     99.17%

The quarterly performance was strong with only 17 out of 2,047 invoices being paid after 30 days.

Rent collected as a proportion of rent due                                                                                                                     Source: DBC Housing Services/HPI1
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target          98.1%
                  Result        97.57%
                  2015-16
                  Target          98.1%                    
                  Result        97.67%

                    Q1 Target         90%                               
                    Q1 Result    91.96%

Performance improved against last year but was marginally short of stretching target for rent collection 
in 2015-16 but remains in line with the cumulative trend to achieve target in 2016-17 despite the 
challenging environment.  Previously, 97.58% of rent was collected in 2013-14 and 97.57% of rent was 
collected in 2014-15. This increase in collection rates, when compared to the last two years, is very 
positive when seen in the context of the welfare reform changes and the current economic climate. The 
figure reported each quarter is a cumulative total rate for the year.

Number of visits to DBC website                                                                                                                                                       Source: ICT/ITPI24
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Result       664,701
                  2015-16
                  Result       809,383

                    Q1 Result    230,074
The increasing importance of the website is demonstrated by the continuing growth in the number of 
visits at over 20% per annum.  

Percentage of customer service telephone calls answered within 20 seconds                                                            Source: Customer Services/CSP1                                                                                                                   
2014-15 and 2015-16 2016-17

                  2014-15
                  Target        71.25%
                  Result        65.36%
                  2015-16
                  Target             65%
                  Result        69.29%

                    Q1 Target          65%
                    Q1 Result       40.3% 

There has been a further decline in the percentage of calls answered in 20 seconds, from 61% to 40% 
with a significant increase in call volume for Waste and Election calls. Due to the EU Referendum, we 
saw an increase in calls from 536 to 2,294. Over the past quarter we have also experienced problems 
with refuse and recycling collections which has seen an increase in call volume from 3,676 to 5,836. 
The department is currently under resourced due to the long term sickness of 2 experienced CSA's, 
which is also affecting the number of calls that are being handled within 20 seconds.





POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN

1. Summary

1.1 This report sets out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.
2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Work Plan be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Attached at Appendix A, is the proposed Work Plan for the Policy 
Overview Committee.

3.2. Tracey Schneider, Kent County Council’s Project Officer for Dementia 
Friendly Communities, will be attending this meeting to provide 
Members with an update on the various initiatives and projects that are 
planned, or have taken place, to promote Dartford as a dementia 
friendly community.

3.3. Tom Carter, General Manager of Fairfield sport and leisure centre, will 
be attending this meeting to provide Members with an update on the 
running of the facility.

3.4. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 14 June 2016, a further 
visit by the Director for Performance Delivery, Dartford, Gravesham 
and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, has been scheduled for 
March 2017.

3.5. As requested at the Committee’s meeting on 14 June 2016, a further 
visit by Pharmacy Service representatives has been scheduled for 
June 2017.

3.6. Members are invited to suggest additional items for inclusion in the 
Work Plan.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The existence of sound policies, which enable quality services to be delivered 
to the residents of Dartford, is a corporate value of the Council.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
20 SEPTEMBER 2016

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment  No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee Work Plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services/ 
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A

POLICY OVERVIEW WORK PLAN

September 2016 December 2016 March 2017 June 2017

Dementia Friendly 
Communities Kent Public Health Service Dartford and Gravesham NHS 

Trust Update Pharmacy Services

Fairfield Management 
Contract

Dartford Preventative Health 
Projects - Annual Report 
2015/16 and Health 
Inequalities Action Plan

Dartford, Gravesham and 
Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Policy Overview Annual 
Report 2016 - 2017

Performance Monitoring Welfare Reform Update Performance Monitoring Performance Monitoring

Performance Monitoring




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the minutes of the Policy Overview meeting held on 14 June 2016
	6 Regulation 9 Notice
	7 Action Points Arising from the Policy Overview Committee Meeting held on 14 June 2016
	Action Points APPENDIX A
	Blank Page

	Action Points APPENDIX B

	8 Dementia Friendly Communities
	9 Fairfield Management Contract
	Fairfield APPENDIX A

	10 Corporate Plan - Performance Indicators
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A

	11 Policy Overview Committee Work Plan
	Work Plan APPENDIX A




